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1.  MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 
 

Dear Partners, 

 

Your attention is drawn to the Connections Audited Financial 

Results Report of Connections 

Consult SA (hereinafter "Connections" or the "Issuer") and 

those compiled and unaudited for the group of companies 

controlled by Connections Consult SA (hereinafter 

"Connections Group" or the "Group"), relating to 2022.  

 

We are now concluding the evaluation of the 2022 activity. We have completed the annual audit and will submit to 

the vote of the General Meeting of Shareholders both the financial statements for 2022 and the Income and 

Expenditure Budget for 2023. Last year, 2022, was on the same note of uncertainty and unpredictability in the world 

economy. The war in Ukraine, the energy crisis and rising global inflation have made the last 12 months a difficult 

journey for both companies and individuals almost anywhere in the world.  

For Connections, 2022 was the first full year of operation since the IPO. So, it was a timeframe relevant enough to 

showcase the company's potential and validate the promises on the basis of which we secured funding from our 

investors in the July 2021 private placement. It was a year of the construction to which we have committed and, at 

the same time, a year of defining our medium-term strategy, this time taking into account the variables of the new 

economic and geopolitical context in which we have entered.  

The major events in the life of the company in 2022 were: 

1. Set-up of the advisory board - composed of Diana Olar, Bogdan Lazaroae and Michael Lithgow.  
2. Employee Stock Option Program - ESOP - included on the agenda of the April 2023 AGM.  
3. Opening of US and UK subsidiaries. 
4. Signing contracts for the implementation of integrated digital solutions for the Superior Council of 
Magistracy (CSMapp), the Ministry of Justice (ECRIS), the Official Gazette and the National Health Insurance House.  
5. Strengthening the governance system by appointing a co-CEO - Radu Marcu and a Board of Directors 
composed of Bogdan Florea - president, Oana Beldie and Corneliu Stanciu - members.  
6. Continued investment in highly qualified staff. 
7. Acquisition of 25% of the shares of 10plus FUTURE EDUCATION srl - edtech company. 
8. 10:1 stock split 
 

In the reporting period, the Group recorded a 29% increase in revenue compared to 2021 in the context of increased 

activity in custom software development. Gross profit increased by 48% compared to 2021, on the back of increased 

revenue in the software division, which now accounts for 36% of the Group's total revenue, compared to 22% in 

2021. All group verticals recorded jumps between 6-7% (BPO and ITO) and 32% and 106% (RPA, and software 

development respectively).  
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At the same time, the Group has exceeded the financial estimates for 2022 mentioned in the offer document of the 

private placement and in the one published at the time of the admission to trading in September 2021, both in 

terms of revenues (18% increase compared to estimates) and gross profit (approximately 20% increase compared 

to estimates). Compared to the revenue and expense budget voted at the General Shareholders' Meeting in 2022, 

we record slightly negative single-digit variations (4% in revenue and 9% in gross profit), due to the postponement 

of the initiation of some technology projects to 2023. The hiring plan, on the other hand, was respected, which had 

an impact on gross profit, relative to the approved revenue and expenditure budget. On the other hand, given the 

labour market context, the projects that will start in 2023 find us with engineering teams already selected and 

accommodated with the internal processes of the group companies. Given the aggressive revenue growth in 2022 

compared to 2021, of around 30%, in parallel with the need to reshape internal flows, we consider the company's 

path to be a successful one that offers prospects for sustainable development in the coming years. As regards the 

acquisition of new companies, we have decided, given the uncertain context and valuations still too high to justify 

new investments, to focus on building internal teams and organically increasing the Group's technical capabilities, 

while remaining attentive to developments in the acquisition and merger market.  

The company's strategy for the next 3 years looks at the business as an ecosystem with 5 stakeholders: investors, 

employees, the company, the community and the environment. We will announce in early June 2023 the major 

objectives that will shape this strategy. The document will be public, will contain deadlines and ways to measure 

these objectives and will represent the Group's boardroom. This step represents a higher level of approach to the 

Group's activities, aiming at a continuous maximization of its assets, through a sustainable perspective over time 

and resilient to external shocks. Broadly speaking, we will continue in the coming years to develop the Group firms' 

technology integrator capabilities, invest in products with added value and impact in the short to medium term, 

increase revenue from external markets and broaden the skills base we can leverage (we plan to integrate 

cybersecurity capabilities as well as hardware and software infrastructure).  

In closing, we repeat last year's message, which, even at the beginning of 2023, is still relevant: "We are confident 

that we will be better at managing our relationship with investors, we understand their importance and essential 

role in our development and we are working on improved governance of our relationship with the capital market. 

We strongly believe in communicating with substance - when we have relevant and consistent topics to expose 

publicly - and we will never try to market half news just to speculate on a momentary share price increase. We're 

in the capital markets for the long haul and we want to play honestly and transparently, without "stealing a 

march" unnecessarily. That's why we will not publicly expose information - unaudited or unvalidated by 

clients/auditors." 

This introductory message does not provide the necessary digital space to nominate all the colleagues in the 

Connections team who work every day with energy, passion and commitment and to whom we both - Bogdan and 

Radu, thank you for an exceptional year spent together! Thanks to our investors who have shown patience, good 

intuition and moral support by their open attitude and honest approach towards the company! 

Bogdan Liviu Florea & Radu Marcu 

CONNECTIONS 
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2.  About Connections -  a brief history  
 

Connections is a group of technology companies specializing in digital business transformation and includes 
several companies: Connections Consult SA, Connections Technologies SRL and Outsourcing Support Services 
SRL, Brusch Services SRL (from October 2021) as well as subsidiaries in Bulgaria and Serbia.  

Even though the 6 companies mentioned above, which form the Connections Group, have been established 

over time under the control of the same majority shareholder (with the exception of Brusch Services Srl), the 

current form of the Connections Group dates from 01.10.2021, when Connections Consult SA acquired 100% 

of Brusch Services Srl. The companies which, at the date of this report, are part of the Connections Group have 

also in the past acted on the basis of a common strategy and for this reason we consider it relevant for this 

report to present the activities, plans and strategy both from the perspective of the Issuer (as required by law), 

Connections Consult S.A., and from the perspective of the Connections Group, controlled by the Issuer. The 

financial indicators included in this report have been presented not only individually (separately) for the Issuer, 

Connections Consult S.A., but also compiled at the level of the CONNECTIONS Group. We have chosen this 

presentation individually at the level of the Issuer and compiled at the level of the Group, in order to provide 

an accurate picture of the investment performance of those who participated in the capital increase from the 

private placement in July 2021 and the outlook for the Group. The CONNECTIONS strategy, indicator 

monitoring and business development are always approached in an integrated manner at Group level. This has 

been the case since the technical listing on the BVB in 2021, continued in 2022 and will continue in the future.   

Connections Consult S.A., the Group's flagship company, was established in 2005 in Bucharest - Romania, as a 
limited liability company, and on 02.06.2021 it became a joint stock company.  

In 2007, Connections Technology was founded, whose main activity was and is to implement software 
development contracts, and in 2015 the company Outsourcing Support Services was founded with the aim of 
providing staff resource contracting services. 

The Group offers clients the opportunity to optimise and reshape their business processes and align with 
current digital trends, using technology tools to improve their KPIs and adapt to global market challenges. 

In 2016, Connections marked the first steps of regional expansion with the opening of offices in Belgrade - 
Serbia and Sofia - Bulgaria. At the same time, through sales representatives in Germany and Saudi Arabia, 
Connections Group expanded its customer portfolio targeting international markets. 

In 2022, the US and UK sub-subsidiaries joined the Group, as well as, as a minority investment, 10PLUS Future 
Education srl. The current report does not include these three new entrants to the Connections ecosystem in 
the data compiled. 
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2.1 Business lines - portfolio of products and services 

 

Following market developments in 2022, and in conjunction with the development of internal capabilities, the 

Software Development, Outsourcing and RPA business lines will be grouped into a vertical called Digital 

Transformation, with four sub lines: Custom Software Development, Business Process Automation, Technology 

Consulting and Products. 

So the Connections portfolio of services and products looks like this in 2023: 

 

Digital transformation services will be delivered for both public and private sector customers, for foreign markets 

and Romania.  

 

The product portfolio includes: 

1. Contabot - virtual accountant  
2. Id Scanner - tool for extracting data from identity cards 
3. Quick Merlin (2022) - tool for extracting data from financial balances 
4. NexGen (2022) - low-code platform for accelerating software development 
5. Apollo/OneApp - project management application for consultancy   
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2.2 Connections Group Structure 

 

 
 

 

 

2.3 Short description of the activity: 

 
Connections assists clients on their journey to real digital transformation. The Business Process Management (BPO) 

division optimizes business processes, reshapes them and prepares them for digitization, the Digital 

Transformation vertical implements the actual tools, while the Infrastructure Support business line provides the 

foundation for the new system to work. In this way, with an integrated approach, we have ready in the Group all 

the competencies needed for a successful migration from the traditional economy to Industry 5.0, the 5th industrial 

revolution, in which creativity will join hands with technology, ensuring a solid balance between the power of human 

innovation and the power of machine execution.  
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3. Connections Group activity analysis in 2022 
 

3.1 Analysis of the Group's financial results  
 

In 2022 - a landmark year in the Group's history - Connections achieved in terms of financial performance results 

above initial estimates, and, considerably better than in 2021.  

The tables below show a comparative analysis of the main income statement indicators for 2022 actual, 2022 

estimated and 2021.  

 

 

Compiled Made 2022 Compiled Estimate 2022 Compiled Made 2021 

 (RON) (RON) (RON) 

Operating income 58.460.347  61.320.982 45.325.286  

Operating expenses (53.581.806) (56.033.663) (41.864.217) 

Operational result 5.178.541 5.287.319 3.461.068  

Financial result (65.357) (36.000) (1.389) 

Gross Profit 5.113.184  5.251.319 3.459.679  

Net Profit 4.288.488  4.737.032 3.030.649  

Gross Margin 9% 9% 8% 

 

 

 Results 2022 vs Estimated 2022 Results 2022 vs 2021 

Total income -5% 29% 

Operating expenses -5% 27% 

Operational result -2% 50% 

Gross Profit -3% 48% 

Net Profit -9% 42% 
 

 

INCOME 

Total revenue increased by 29% compared to 2021. The main business line contributing to the growth is Software 

Development, which, both through significant contracts with state institutions and implementation projects with partners 
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from the private sector, generated significant revenues. Compared to the estimate for 2022, revenues were slightly lower, 

by 5%, a gap that was however offset by savings in operating expenses. 

 

GROSS PROFIT 

Gross profit increased by a remarkable 48% compared to 2021, under the impact of software development projects and 

optimizations made in the Service Delivery team. Compared to the estimated gross profit for 2022, it was only 3% below. 

 

GROSS MARGIN 

The gross margin of the whole group increased to around 9% compared to 2021 when it was 8%, under the impact 

of expense optimization and, what is more encouraging, it was above the initial expectations for this year. 

 

We assess as positive the results published at group level and consider that the outperformance of the estimates in 

the Memorandum published prior to the listing denotes the company's ability to deliver increasingly better results 

to the market. 

  

3.2 Analysis of service lines 
 

COMPOSITION OF THE TURNOVER OF THE CONNECTIONS GROUP 

Revenues generated by each service line (hereafter referred to as Departments) have developed in line with 

the Group's strategy to focus on new technologies.  

The target to increase the contribution of new digital technologies to total annual revenues, mentioned in the 

Private Placement Memorandum, has been achieved for 2022, with the share of software and RPA lines 

accounting for 42% of revenues in 2022, up from 28% in 2021. Although the share of RPA remained constant 

(6%), the Software division experienced rapid growth on the back of significant new contracts. Growth was 

matched by a gradual decrease in the share of traditional services - BPO & ITO - which demonstrates the 

Group's commitment to shaping a regional leader in digital transformation.  

2022 BPO ITO Sw RPA Others 

% Group revenue 48% 10% 36% 6% 0% 

 

2021 BPO ITO Sw RPA Others 

% Group revenue 58% 12% 22% 6% 2% 
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ABSOLUTE VALUES 

The comparisons below highlight significant revenue increases for Software and RPA, but also an increase for the 

BPO and ITO lines. Note that compared to the previous year, Software revenue doubled. 

 

Department 

Revenue 2022 

Realised Revenue 2021 Realised Comparison 

 (RON) (RON) (RON) 

BPO  27,805,356                          26,055,103      7% 

ITO  5,819,744                            5,412,674      8% 

Sw incl Brusch  21,064,983                          10,191,649      107% 

RPA  3,531,024                            2,668,240      32% 

Other  239,240                                997,620      -76% 

Total 58,460,347 45,325,286 29% 

 

Below, we have presented the comparisons with the initial estimates. Overall, revenues were 5% lower than estimated, 

mainly due to non-materialised BPO and ITO projects, which are not related to the company's performance. 

 

Department Revenue 2022 Realised Revenue 2022 Estimated Comparison 

 (RON) (RON) (RON) 

BPO                              27.805.356                         30.709.600      -9% 

ITO                               5.819.744                            6.077.473      -4% 

Sw incl Brusch                              21.064.983                         21.328.754      -1% 

RPA                                3.531.024                            3.129.536      13% 

Others                                   239.240                                  75.319      216% 

Total                            58.460.347                       61.320.982      -5% 
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3.3 Presentation of the main project portfolio in relation to economic sectors 

 

 

 

 

 

In terms of the source of revenue by economic sector, the distribution is roughly similar to 2021. FMCG and 

Manufacturing remained the main sectors served, with around 60% in both years. The public sector is exclusively 

represented in the revenue generated by the Software department, through significant new contracts.   

48%

12%

11%

10%

5%

5%
4%

4%

Distribution of revenues by industry 2022

 FMCG
 Financial services
 IT
 Public
 Human Resources
 Oil&Gas
 Manufacturing
 Other

40%

23%

18%

10%

2%
7%

Distributia Veniturilor in Functie de Industrii 2021

FMCG Manufacturing Banking Oil&Gas Public Others
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4. Highlights of Connections in 2022 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

In 2022, following the AGM on 30.04.2022, Connections appointed a Board of Directors composed of three members: 

Bogdan Florea - President 

Oana Beldie - member 

Corneliu Stanciu - member 

In this way, we have taken a step forward towards establishing a transparent and robust corporate governance system. 

 

SHARE SPLIT 

In May 2022, Connections completed the 1:11 stock split taking the price of a share into the 1-10 range. Thus, Connections 

shares became more affordable as a unit price, and the action aims to increase liquidity in the market.  

 

COMPANY ACQUISITION 

In June 2022, Connections became a shareholder of 10Plus Future Education, a digital education (edtech) company with 

great potential in the Romanian and regional market, with a 25% stake. Connections plans to support the company's 

transformation into a digital technology start-up and to create a consistent customer base.  

 

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS 

The year 2022 was probably the period in which Connections signed the most complex technology contracts since its 

inception. The four significant contracts signed with: the Official Gazette, the Ministry of Justice, the Superior Council of 

Magistracy and the National Health Insurance House are a relevant proof of our ability to implement large and high-

impact projects. It represents the first step of what will be reflected in our strategy for the next 3-5 years, namely achieving 

the status of preferred partner for digital enterprise solutions at national level. Of the four projects mentioned above, 

one of them - the one with the Official Gazette - has already been delivered and cashed, and two others - CSM and CNAS 

- will be completed during 2023. Also related to significant projects in the public sector, in 2022 we delivered the project 

with ANRE implementing the 24-hour gas and energy furnace changeover (POSF), a project started in the previous year. 

The importance of these projects is also represented by the technological challenge they bring and which attracts more 

talented and highly qualified staff.  

4.1 Business and sales strategy for 2022-2026 
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In last year's report, we mentioned some strategic objectives that we see as necessary for business development in 

Connections. We reprint them below and for each one we comment on the degree of achievement. We maintain 

the objectives formulated a year ago and consider them applicable to a period extending to 2026. 

1. Technology partnerships with established technology vendors: UiPath, Microsoft, Aurachain - the ability 
to deliver projects with the mentioned technologies can pave the way for other possible projects 
independent of them - 100%: with the exception of Microsoft with whom we are in the last phase of 
signing a partnership, with the other two companies: UiPath and Aurachain we have signed or maintained 
our existing partnerships.  

2. Digital Marketing: recent years have marked a shift in the efficiency of the customer acquisition process 
from the traditional cold calling area to the digital space, through the application of digital marketing 
techniques. We are already seeing results - customers interested in our products obtained through precisely 
targeted digital marketing campaigns - geography, industries, interests - 100% - the budget allocated to 
digital marketing activities accounted for about 1% of the year's revenue in 2022 and will exceed 1% in 
2023. The results are visible in the increase in absolute value of revenues from foreign markets and those 
related to products developed by the company (Contabot and ID Scanner).  

3. Consultative selling - more and more customers are aware of their digitisation needs but are unable to 
generate detailed and accurate analysis to help suppliers define viable architectures and realistic offerings. 
We help them by offering consultancy to generate, together with them, useful and effective digitisation 
models. To this end, we engage or partner with companies or individuals with expertise in the client's field 
of activity. In other words, we are migrating from the area of selling technology services, to that of business 
services with a technology footprint - 30%: we are at the point where we are building synergies between 
business and technology teams. For Connections, this is the most important bet in terms of our project 
approach philosophy.  

4. We aim to be intensively active in the Romanian and EU public tenders sphere, betting on a significant influx 
of public investments in the field of digitization (PNRR, EU funds from 2021-2028). In order to achieve this 
goal we plan to build a strong team for bidding and participation in public tenders (bid) - 100%: we already 
have the public tenders team built and it is one of the most competitive in the Romanian IT market. The 
projects signed with several public sector clients increase the degree of fulfilment of this indicator.  

 
 

5. Significant clients 
 

The Connections Group serves a range of reputable clients, from multinational companies in the financial services 
(banking, insurance), FMCG, technology, logistics and utilities sectors, to local companies and non-governmental 
organisations.  

Over the past 10 years, the Group has served more than 100 clients, 30% of which are Fortune 100 companies. The 
Company's portfolio includes clients in four regions: Europe (Belgium, France, Switzerland, Poland, Hungary, Turkey, 
Netherlands, UK, Germany), North America (USA), Middle East (Saudi Arabia, Lebanon) and Asia (Vietnam, India). 

For reasons of client confidentiality, guaranteed by the service contracts, the Company cannot name large clients, 
but can only provide general information about them. 

The main industries in which the Group's customers operate are: 
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Technology and engineering 

• Client x - multinational company (Top 50 Fortune Global) 

• Various Romanian companies - IT integrators, software developers 

Logistics and Distribution 

• Client x - large local company (+ EUR 50 million turnover) 

• Client x - multinational company based in Germany (+600 million EUR turnover) 

• Others 

Health 

• Client x - Network of private clinics, local company  

• Others 

Oil and gas 

• Direct client - technology company (Top 50 Fortune India), final client Oil&Gas company (Top 500 Fortune 
Global) 

• Others 

Production 

• Client x - German company with a turnover of over EUR 1 billion 

• Others 

FMCG 

• Multinational company 1, Fortune 500 Global 

• Multinational company 2, Fortune 500 Global 

• Multinational company 3, one of the 3 largest global brewers 

• Others 

Public/Government 

• ANRE 

• Ministry of Justice  

• National Health Insurance House 

• Superior Council of Magistracy 

• Official Gazette 

Financial Sector 

• Banks: 5 of the 15 largest banks in Romania, 1 bank in Saudi Arabia (out of top 3) 

• Credit collection: company in the top 3 collection and debt management agencies in Romania 

• Insurance: top 3 company in the insurance industry in Romania 
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Energy and Utilities 

• Customer 1 - one of the top 3 electricity suppliers 

• Customer 2 - one of the top 3 natural gas suppliers 

• Client 3 - one of the top 3 drinking water distribution 

The level of revenues from external markets remained at around 20% of total revenues, even though total revenues 
increased by almost 30%. Over the next 3 years we aim to stabilise the Group's external revenues at around 40% of 
total revenues.  

6. Operational indicators 
 

EBITDA margin increased slightly compared to 2021, from 9% to 10% on the back of revisions to certain cost 

items. 

As can be seen in the table below, realized EBITDA is 45% higher than in 2021.   

This was due to the group's commitment to develop a number of new products that will ensure sustained 

growth and diversification of the company's business, as well as an improvement in EBITDA margin. Going 

forward, these products will be expected to open up new markets and potential lines of business with 

increased profitability. 

The concurrent growth in turnover and share of digitization projects has been above initial expectations and 

will generate a 33% compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in EBITDA over the next 3 years, and a 35% per 

annum growth in net profit over the same period to 2024. In 2022 the growth was an admirable 45% over the 

previous year. 
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7. Elements of perspective on the company's activity  
 

2023 is a year of internal construction. We have a major effort ahead of us in strengthening corporate governance 

and organisational culture, as well as major deliveries on projects already won or even completion of some of them. 

At the same time, we want the products we have bet on to start counting in the final annual balance sheet. 2023 is 

also the year in which the company's premises will change, on the one hand because the current lease expires, and 

on the other because the number of colleagues is constantly growing. We need a new office, adapted to the current 

needs of the labour market.  

 

8. Revenue and expenditure budget for 2023 
 

8.1 PRESENTATION OF MAIN INDICATORS CONNECTIONS 2023 BUDGET: 
 

For the year 2023, the Connections Group's management is focusing mainly on the development of the software 

development line.  The estimate for operating revenues for software development + outsourcing is 72% growth compared 

to 2022. Total estimated operating revenues for the year 2023 amount to 82 million lei, and the main contributors to the 

generation of these revenues are Service Delivery with estimated revenues of 41 million lei with BPO and ITO subdivisions, 

respectively Software Development + Outsourcing with estimated revenues of 36 million lei. 

The growth in Software Development division revenues is forecast as a result of two main directions:  

- Contracting large-scale projects in the public domain; 
- Development of the solution palette for specialized software support know-how within Brusch. 

 

To increase revenues in the Service Delivery division, Connections Group management is counting on innovative products 

that are important differentiators in relation to the market offer. 
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The estimated EBITDA margin for 2023 is 9% and the estimated net margin is 7%. The net margin is conservatively 

estimated considering the overall growth in activity across all service lines, and the Group's management aims to 

exceed this indicator for 2023.  In absolute terms, net profit is estimated at RON 5.6 million. 

In terms of the Group's revenue evolution by main business lines (divisions), the table below shows a slightly more 

conservative 5-year compound average growth rate (2023 estimated) for the Service Delivery division (9%) while the 

Software Development division shows a more accelerated rate of 60%. However, it should be noted that the Service 

Delivery division remains a pivotal area for Connections Group's business, generating the most significant revenues. 

 

In terms of the Group's operating performance, for 2023 the operating margin is estimated at 10%. The estimate is 

incremental increase compared to previous years when it was 9% and 8% respectively. This will allow us to achieve a net 

margin that is budgeted at 7%. In order to achieve this objective, management is focused on optimizing costs and 

achieving synergies at the operational level that will contribute to streamlining the Group's activities and thus increase 

financial performance. 

 

 

 

 

BUGET PE LINII DE SERVICII GRUP CONNECTIONS 2023

Categorie CENTRU PROFIT CENTRU PROFITCENTRU PROFITCENTRU PROFIT CENTRU COST CENTRU COST CENTRU COST CENTRU COST CENTRU COST

Linie servicii OUTSOURCING RPA

SERVICE

 DELIVERY

SOFTWARE

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE

GENERAL

MANAGEMENT MARKETING OPERATIONS SALES

HUMAN

RESOURCES TOTAL

Venituri 10,686,551        4,294,658       41,114,877     25,601,283       222,000           -                    -                            72,000             -                    -                     81,991,369  

Costuri directe 8,447,928-           4,268,875-       33,696,379-     20,090,052-       1,336,673-       1,046,080-        1,372,489-               1,644,103-       158,500-           1,990,230-        74,051,310-  

Rezultat operational 2,238,623           25,783            7,418,498       5,511,231         1,114,673-       1,046,080-        1,372,489-               1,572,103-       158,500-           1,990,230-        7,940,060     

Alte venituri 1,200,000         1,200,000     

Costuri indirecte 71,815-                40,800-            100,146-           316,000-            176,100-           211,600-           42,640-                     277,168-           25,538-             127,250-            1,389,057-     

EBITDA 2,166,808           15,017-            7,318,352       6,395,231         1,290,773-       1,257,680-        1,415,129-               1,849,271-       184,038-           2,117,480-        7,751,003     

Marja bruta 9%

Amortizari 2,052-                   9,120-               36,946-             749,667-            3,480-               91,200-              10,929-             3,600-               37,674-              944,667-        

EBIT 2,164,756           24,137-            7,281,406       5,645,564         1,294,253-       1,348,880-        1,415,129-               1,860,201-       187,638-           2,155,154-        6,806,335     

Dobanzi 168,000-           168,000-        

Impozit 1,064,000-       1,064,000-     

-                 

Rezultat net 2,164,756           24,137-            7,281,406       5,645,564         2,526,253-       1,348,880-        1,415,129-               1,860,201-       187,638-           2,155,154-        5,574,335     

Marja neta 7%

EVOLUTIE CAGR VENITURI GRUP CONNECTIONS (5 ANI)

VENITURI PE LINII 

DE SERVICII 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 CAGR

SERVICE DELIVERY 26,711                30,740            31,468             33,625               41,115             9%

SOFTWARE 

DEPARTMENT 3,508                   3,122               10,192             21,065               36,288             60%

RPA 1,187                   2,132               2,668               2,988                 4,295               29%

EVOLUTIE PERFORMANTA OPERATIONALA GRUP CONNECTIONS

2023 2022 2021 CAGR 3 ANI

Venituri totale 81,991,369     58,460,347     45,325,286      22%

Cheltuieli de exploatare 74,051,310     53,281,806     41,864,217      21%

Rezultat operational 7,940,060       5,178,541       3,461,069        32%

Marja operationala 10% 9% 8% 8%
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EBITDA margin will continue to be a key indicator for Connections Group management. It should be noted that the 

estimated EBITDA margin shows solid growth over 3 years (2023 estimated) of activity. The average compound growth 

rate for the 3 years amounts to 26%.  In absolute value, the 2022 EBITDA estimate is 5.6 million lei. 

EBIDTA EVOLUTION 3 YEARS 

 2023 2022 2021 CAGR 3 YEARS 

EBIDTA 7.751.003 5.676.262 3.915.699 26% 

 

9. Analysis of individual situations: performance and financial 
position 

 

THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE ISSUER 

9.1 Strengthening the Financial Position in 2022 
 

The year 2022 meant for Connections Consult the further strengthening of the financial position in the Balance Sheet. 

The company has seen an increase in the value of assets readily convertible to cash, as revealed by the comparative 

balance sheet statement 2021 versus 2022. The increase in current assets is mainly due to the increase in the receivables 

balance as at 31 December 2022 compared to 2021, correlated with a decrease in the cash balance. This is due to the use 

of cash for business growth. 

At the end of 2022, the issuer recorded a balance of current assets of 22,009,819 lei, of which 4.5 million lei represented 

cash and short-term investments.  

A. FIXED ASSETS  31 December 2021  31 December 2022 

I. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS  912.534 1.196.167 

II. TANGIBLE IMMOBILISATIONS  406.601 219.846 

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 1.534.203 1.711.595 

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL  2.853.338     3.127.608  

B.CURRENT ASSETS     

I.STOCK                   -  315    

II.CREATING 11.894.138 17.456.099 
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9.2 Explanation of changes in liabilities 
 

The short-term debt balance at December 2022 was similar to that at December 2021. However, considering the 

increase in the current assets balance, the Company's position is considerably better with a net current assets 

indicator increasing from 11,034,754 at December 2021 to 13,253,099 at December 2022. 

The long-term debt balance has increased by the amount of bonds to be paid as a result of a strategic investment 

in 10Plus Future Education SRL. 

The balance of revenue recorded in advance increased significantly as a result of revenue received for maintenance 

over the next 6 years under the significant software project with the public institution commenced in 2021 and 

completed in 2022. 

 
31 December 

2022 

31 December 

2021 

D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP TO ONE YEAR  8.775.590  8.805.434  

E. NET CURRENT ASSETS/NET CURRENT LIABILITIES  11.034.754 13.253.100 

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS  - -  

IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS      7.881.549 4.553.405 

CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL  19.775.687 22.009.820 
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F. TOTAL ASSETS MINUS CURRENT LIABILITIES  13.888.092 17.890.389 

G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR         148.122         725.440  

H. PROVIZIOANE         268.874  228.276 

I. PREPAID INCOME           40.814  1.603.159 

 

9.3 Net Assets 
 

The issuer's net asset value increased in 2022 to 15,915,422 compared to 13,471,096 in 2021 on the back of the 

performance achieved this year. This performance was achieved through a considerable increase in revenues 

compared to 2021, mostly from the Software division, but also from existing business lines such as BPO and ITO. 

 

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES     

I. CAPITAL (rd. 30+31+32+33+34)       108.116  1.189.273 

1. Subscribed paid-in capital (ct.1012)        108.116         1.189.273 

2. Unpaid subscribed capital (ct.1011)                 -                  -  

3. Assets of the Royalty (ct.1015)                 -                  -  

4. Assets of national research and development institutes 

(ct.1018) 
                -                  -  

5. Other equity items (item 1031)                 -                  -  

II. CAPITAL PREMIUM (ct.104)    12.481.743     11.400.586 

III. REEVALUATION RESERVE (ct.105)                 -                  -  

IV. RESERVE (ct.106)          21.623  143.839 

Own shares (ct.109)                 -                  -  

Gains related to equity instruments (item 141)                 -                  -  

Loss related to equity instruments (ct.149)       (325.001)       (325.001) 
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V. REPORTED PROFIT OR LOSS(A) SOLD C(ct.117)                  2  1.184.615  

VI. PROFIT     1.206.196  2.444.327 

Distribution of profit (ct.129)         (21.583) (122.216) 

EQUITY - TOTAL    13.471.096  15.915.423 

 

 

THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE ISSUER. 

The Issuer's total revenues increased significantly in 2022 compared to 2021, from 32,175,455 lei in 2021 to 

42,422,378 lei, an increase of 31%. This was due to the growth of the business lines on which the Issuer is betting 

in the coming years, Software and RPA, but also to the already existing lines such as BPO and ITO. 

A positive development was the revenue from the sale of licenses, which recorded a favorable variation of 188% 

(from 1,752,919 lei in 2021 to 5,060,216 lei in 2022) on the back of the interest shown by Beneficiaries in solutions 

provided by UiPath. 

 

Total expenditure increased by 28% compared to last year, from 30,763,176 in 2021 to 39,632,342 in 2022. The 

smaller increase in expenses compared to revenues generated a positive impact overall, with gross profit almost 

double in 2022 compared to 2021 (2,790,036 lei in 2022 compared to 1,412,279 lei in 2021). 

Details of the presentation of the Profit and Loss Account as at 31 December 2022 individually can be found in the 

annexes to this Report. 

10. Risks 

The company analyses potential risks through its internal risk management system and tries to anticipate and 

neutralise them before potential consequences arise. However, many of the risks to which the Company is 

subject are beyond its control. 

10.1 Risks related to the company's activity 
 

General economic risks - the Issuer's activities are sensitive to economic cycles and general economic 

conditions. Both international financial crises and the unstable economic environment may have significant 

negative effects on the Issuer's business, operating results and financial position. Socio-political turmoil may 

also impact the Company's business. 
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Risk associated with key people - the company carries out a business that requires advanced knowledge and 

specialisation. The company depends on recruiting and retaining senior management and skilled employees. 

The medium and long-term profitability of the company depends, to a large extent, on the performance of 

qualified employees, staff and executive management, which are particularly important for its development. 

Tax and legal risk - the issuer is governed by Romanian legislation and, even if the Romanian legislation has 

been largely harmonised with EU legislation, further changes may occur, i.e. new laws and regulations may be 

introduced, which may have effects on the company's activity. Romanian legislation is often unclear, subject 

to different interpretations and implementation and frequent changes. Both changes in tax and legal 

legislation and possible events generated by their application may result in possible fines or lawsuits against 

the company, which may impact the Issuer's activity.  

Litigation risk - Although the Issuer takes great care to comply with all legal provisions, in the context of the 

conduct of its business, the Issuer is subject to litigation risk and other legal proceedings. The Issuer may be 

affected by contractual or non-contractual claims, complaints, including from counterparties in contractual 

relationships, customers, competitors or regulatory authorities. Any negative publicity associated with such an 

event may also have an influence. 

At the date of this document, the Issuer is not involved in legal proceedings. 

Risk of seizure of the Issuer's accounts - seizure of accounts is a foreclosure measure that can be applied to a 

company. Thus, the Issuer's accounts may be blocked as a result of the attachment if creditors of the Issuer 

request this measure to recover their debts. The impounding of the Issuer's accounts entails the freezing of 

the amounts in the impounded accounts and may result in the company being hindered or prevented from 

honouring future obligations on agreed terms. 

 

Risk of loss of reputation - is a risk inherent to the Issuer's business, reputation being particularly important in the 

business environment, especially if the company wishes to expand its business to other markets. The ability to 

expand its portfolio in order to develop its business depends on the recognition of the Issuer's brand and the 

establishment of its products in the target markets. 

Risk associated with interest rates and funding sources - in the event of a deterioration of the economic 

environment in which the Issuer operates, the Issuer could find itself unable to take out a new loan on the 

terms it has previously benefited from, which could lead to increased funding costs and negatively affect the 

Company's financial situation. 

Price risk - this is the risk that the market price of products and services sold by the company will fluctuate to such 

an extent as to make existing contracts unprofitable. The company closely monitors market prices and, if necessary, 

may withdraw from contracts that risk becoming unfavourable. 
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Personal data protection risk - in the course of its business, the company collects, stores and uses data that is 

protected by personal data protection laws. Although the Issuer takes precautionary measures to protect 

customer data in accordance with the legal requirements on privacy protection, especially in the context of 

the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/79 and in Romania (as of 25 May 

2018), the risks of data leakage cannot be completely eliminated. 

Cash-flow risk - this is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its payment obligations when due. 

Liquidity risk - includes the risk arising from the possibility of non-recovery of debts. Due to the specific nature 

of its activity, the Company maintains a level of receivables and payables that allows the optimal conduct of 

its business. 

Counterparty risk - this is the risk that a third party natural or legal person will fail to meet its obligations under 

a financial instrument or customer contract, thereby resulting in a financial loss. The Company is exposed to 

credit risk from its operating activities (mainly for external trade receivables) and from its financial activities, 

including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial 

instruments.  

Risk associated with insolvency and bankruptcy - Romania's bankruptcy and enforcement laws do not provide 

the same level of rights, remedies and protections enjoyed by creditors under the legal regimes of other EU 

jurisdictions. In particular, Romanian bankruptcy and enforcement laws and practice may make recovery by 

Issuers of secured and unsecured claims in Romanian courts more difficult and time-consuming than in other 

countries. In recent years, insolvency in Romania has experienced an unfavourable dynamic, with insolvent 

companies, as well as companies reporting net losses, being largely responsible for the worsening payment 

discipline in the economy as a whole. 

Pandemic risk - Although ignored in recent decades, this risk (in particular the risk of global epidemics, i.e. the 

risk of a pandemic) has relatively recently returned to public attention. Although for some companies this may 

become an opportunity, at least in the short term, the overall economic impact is considered to be negative. 

Thus, there are views that, depending on the nature and severity of the epidemic/pandemic, it can induce 

recessions lasting a quarter or even several years. 

Other risks - Potential investors should consider that the risks outlined above are the most significant risks of 

which the company is aware at the time of writing. However, the risks presented in this section do not 

necessarily include all those risks associated with the Issuer's business and the Company cannot guarantee 

that it encompasses all relevant risks. There may be other risk factors and uncertainties of which the Company 

is not aware at the time of writing which may change the actual results, financial conditions, performance and 

achievements of the Issuer in the future and lead to a fall in the price of the Company's shares. Investors should 

also undertake the necessary due diligence in order to make their own assessment of the suitability of the 

investment. 
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Therefore, the decision of potential investors as to whether an investment in financial instruments issued by 

the Issuer is appropriate should be made after a careful assessment of both the risks involved and the other 

information about the Issuer contained or not contained in this document. 

10.2 General risks concerning Shares 
 

Investment Opportunity Assessment 

Each potential investor in Shares must determine, based on its own independent analysis and/or professional 

recommendations which it considers appropriate in the circumstances, the suitability of the investment in 

question. 

Every potential investor should, in particular:  

a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful assessment of the Shares, the 

benefits and risks of investing in the Shares and the information contained in the Memorandum or any 

supplement thereto;  

b) have access to and possess the necessary information on appropriate analytical methods and tools to 

assess, in the context of its specific financial situation, an investment in Shares and the impact of Shares on its 

overall investment portfolio;  

c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all the risks of an investment in Shares;  

d) fully understand the terms of the Shares and be familiar with how any relevant indices and financial 

markets are evolving; and  

e) be able to assess (either on its own or with the assistance of a financial advisor) possible scenarios 

regarding economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect the investment and its ability to bear the 

related risks. 

Tax regime 

Potential buyers and sellers of Shares should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other 

documented fees or commissions in accordance with Romanian law and practice. Prospective investors are 

advised not to rely solely on the tax information contained in this Memorandum, but to consult their own 

advisers regarding their specific tax obligations applicable to the purchase, holding or sale of Shares. Only such 

advisers are in a position to correctly assess the particular circumstances of each potential investor. This 

investment analysis should be corroborated with the tax regime sections of this document.  

Legislative changes 

The terms of the Shares (including any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection therewith) 

shall be based on the relevant laws in force at the date of this Memorandum. No assurance can be given as to 

the impact of any possible court decisions or legislative changes or official application or interpretation of such 

laws or administrative practices subsequent to the document.  
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The risk of direct investment in shares 

Investors should be aware of the risk associated with a direct investment in equities, which is much higher 

than the risk associated with an investment in government securities or investment fund shares, given the 

volatile nature of the capital markets and share prices. 

 

Risk associated with future share price and trading liquidity 

Share prices and trading liquidity for companies listed on the SMT depend on the number and size of buy and sell 

orders placed by investors. There can be no guarantee as to the future price of the Company's shares and no 

guarantee as to their liquidity. It is not possible to guarantee that an investor who buys the shares will be able to 

sell them at any time at a satisfactory price. 

Market Value of Shares 

The value of the Shares depends on a number of interrelated factors including economic, financial and political 

events occurring in Romania or elsewhere in the world, including factors affecting the capital markets in 

general and the stock exchanges on which the Shares are traded. The price at which a holder of Shares will be 

able to sell the Shares may contain a discount from the purchase price paid by such purchaser, which may be 

substantial. 

11. Corporate governance issues 
 

CONNECTIONS has taken important steps to ensure good corporate governance. To this end, steps have been 

taken to hire experienced professionals in key positions, namely COO and CFO.  At the time of publication of this 

report, the positions are already filled.  

Connections is working to select advisors to fill positions on the future Advisory Board that will be operational in 

the first quarter of 2022. 

At the same time, starting next year, Connections management will harmonise reporting standards and 

procedures to ensure an effective control environment. Accounting policies will be prepared in accordance with 

the relevant legislation in force. 

 

12. Executive team and Board of Directors  
 

In 2022, the Group's executive team (Steering Committee) will consist of: 
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Bogdan Liviu Florea - co-CEO 

With over 20 years of experience in the IT&C field, Bogdan Liviu Florea is 

specialized in software project management and integration.  

Passionate about business development Bogdan is a graduate of the Vienna 

University of Economics and Business. 

Professional experience: 

• July 2005 - Present: CEO - Connections Consult 

• May 2020 - Present: Member of Board of Advisors - CEE Digital Services Association 

• January 2019 - Present: Vice President - Employers Association of the Software and Services Industry (ANIS) 

• June 2001 - October 2007: Software Developer / Project Manager - Freescale Semiconductor 

  

Education and training: 

• Master of Business Administration - Vienna University of Economics and Business, 2009 - 2011 

• Executive MBA - Carlsson School of Management, 2009 - 2010 

• Master's and Bachelor's studies - Polytechnic University of Bucharest, 1997 - 2002 

Mr. Bogdan Florea holds 74.42% of the Company's shares. 

 

Radu Marcu - Co-CEO 

A graduate of the Bucharest Academy of Economic Studies, Radu comes with extensive 

experience in managing software development activities, as Director of Software On Demand 

and Business Applications, with strong communication and coordination skills gained over time 

as a team leader. 

Professional experience: 
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• 2021 - present Chief Operating Officer, Connections Group 

 

• 2018-2021 - Director of Software Development and Business Applications 

 

• 2016 - 2018 - Interactive Software - Sharepoint Architect 

 

• 2007 - 2016 - National Defense System, Engineer, Software Developer, Team Leader 

 

Education and training: 

• Bachelor's degree - Technical Military Academy "Ferdinand I"  

 

• Master studies - Academy of Economic Studies, Bucharest 

 

Mr. Radu Marcu holds 0.3% of the Company's shares. 

 

 

 George Nita - Hyperautomation Manager  

Graduate of the "Politehnica" University of Bucharest and Software Engineer with over 20 

years of experience. Strong coordination and planning skills acquired as a result of 8 years 

experience as Project Manager. Currently, George is Connections Hiperautomation Manager 

and RPA Developer with over 4 years of experience. 

Professional experience: 

• February 2017 - Present: Automation Manager - Connections Consult 

• January 2010 - January 2017: Software Engineer - Luxoft 

  

Education and training: 

• Bachelor's degree - Polytechnic University of Bucharest, 1997 - 2002 

Mr. George Nita holds 1.66% of the Company's shares. 
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Vlad Sgindar - Service Delivery Manager, Deputy General Manager  

Service Delivery Manager with relevant experience and a proven track record of working in 

the information technology and services industry.  

Skills in negotiations, business planning, customer relationship management (CRM) and 

management.  

Graduate of Dimitrie Cantemir Christian University, Finance and Banking, specialized in 

negotiations, business planning and customer relationship management. 

Professional experience: 

• September 2015 - Present: Service Delivery Manager - Connections Consult 

• June 2013 - August 2015: Business Development Manager - Connections Consult 

• September 2008 - June 2013: Underwriter - Asirom - Vienna Insurance Group  

 

Education and training: 

• Bachelor's degree (Finance and Banking) - Dimitrie Cantemir Christian University, 2004 - 2008 

Mr. Vlad Sgindar holds 2.50% of the Company's shares. 

 

 

Magda Cristescu - Operations Manager, Deputy General Manager 

Magda is a manager with a wealth of experience in service delivery within the IT&C 

industry (Genpact, Huawei, Cosmote), and over 5 years of experience in BPO service 

industry activities. 

Professional experience: 

• September 2014 - Present: Operations Manager - Connections Consult 

• January 2009 - November 2013: Equipment & Services Network Infrastructure 

Procurement Head of Office - Cosmote 

• January 2007 - January 2009: Senior Buyer - Genpact 

• January 2006 - January 2007: Logistics & Acceptance Specialist - Huawei Technologies 

Education and training: 

• Bachelor studies - University of Bucharest, 1995 - 1999 

Magda Cristescu holds 0.08% of the Company's shares. 
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Claudiu Staniloiu - Recruitment & Employer Branding Manager  

A graduate of the National School of Political and Administrative Studies in Bucharest, he 

specializes in R&D strategies, Organization Charting, Coaching, Change Management and 

Organizational Development. Strong communication and coordination skills acquired in over 7 

years of experience in HR. 

Professional experience: 

• April 2019 - Present: Recruitment & Employer Branding Manager - Connections Consult 

• October 2018 - April 2019: HR Manager - Key Way Services 

• April 2011 - October 2018: Recruitment, Training & Development Officer - NN Group 

 

Education and training: 

• Master studies - National School of Political and Administrative Studies of Bucharest (SNSPA), 2006 - 2008 

• Bachelor studies - Ovidius University of Constanta, 2002 - 2006 

Mr. Claudiu Staniloiu holds 0.17% of the Company's shares.  

 

 

Decebal Dumitrescu - Chief Financial Officer 

Graduate of Northwood University USA, BBA graduate and holds an MBA degree from Sheffield 

University UK. Decebal has more than 20 years of experience in finance and financial consulting. 

He has held management positions in multinational companies. In his career he has worked on 

ERP implementation projects, financial restructuring projects, fundraising and tax law change 

projects among others. Mr Decebal Dumitrescu does not hold any shares in Connections 

Consult SA. 

Professional experience: 

• 2021 - present, CFO, Connections Group 

• 2020 - 2021, Finance Director, AvisBudget, Romania 

• 2019 - 2020 , Finance Director, RIN Hospitality  

• 2017 - 2019, Finance Manager, SIF Moldova SA 

• 2013 - 2017, Manager, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Romania 

• 2007 - 2008, Internal Audit Manager, Phillip Morris 

• 2006 - 2007, Senior Associate, TPA Horvath Audit 

• 2005 - Financial Manager, Geberal Electric 

• 2003 - 2005, Howard Johnson Grand Plaza 
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Education and training: 

• Bachelor studies: Northwood University, USA 
 

• Master studies: Sheffield University UK 

13. Management statement 
 

Bucharest, 23 March 2023 

I confirm, to the best of my knowledge, that the financial results for the period from 01.01.2022 to 31.12.2022 give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and income and expenditure position of Connections Consult S.A. 

and that the directors' report gives a true and fair view of the material events that occurred in 2022 and their impact on 

the company's financial position. 

Bogdan Florea 

President CA, Connections Consult S.A. 

14. Attachments 
 

14.1 APPENDIX 1- BALANCE SHEET GROUP CONNECTIONS AS AT 31.12.2022 
 

 
RON RON 

Item name 2021 2022 

 

    

A. FIXED ASSETS 

  
I. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS              2.889.285                   4.951.387      

II. TANGIBLE IMMOBILISATIONS                  456.690                      259.273      

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS                  531.701                      698.357      

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL          3.877.676         5.909.017      

 
 

  
B. CURRENT ASSETS   

I. STOCKS 
                             -  

                             

315    
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II. RECEIVABLES (amounts to be collected after more than one year must 

be shown separately for each item)            12.828.747                 15.216.527      

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS                              -                               -  

IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS              9.252.140                   8.274.059      

CURRENT ASSET       22.080.887                 23.490.900      

C. ADVANCE EXPENDITURE                 79.491                   1.419.156      

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                    79.491                      508.740      

Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                              -                  910.417      

 
  

D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP TO ONE YEAR              8.306.317                   6.583.782      

 
  

E. NET CURRENT ASSETS / NET CURRENT LIABILITIES       13.800.754      16.828.630      

   

F. TOTAL ASSETS MINUS CURRENT LIABILITIES        17.678.430             23.648.064      

 
  

G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR              3.458.122                   4.442.247      

 
  

H. PROVIZIOANE                  268.874                      228.276      

 
  

I. PREPAID INCOME                    53.307                   1.608.477      

 
  

1. Investment grants                 53.307                        34.881      

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                    53.307                        34.881      

Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                              -                            -  

2. Prepaid income                              -  1.573.597      

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                               -                  552.347      

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                              -               1.021.250      

3. Prepaid income related to assets received by transfer from clients                              -                               -  

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                              -                               -  

Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                              -                               -  
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Negative goodwill                              -                               -  

 
  

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES   

I. CAPITAL              108.311                   1.189.268      

1. Subscribed paid-in capital                  108.311                   1.189.268      

2. Unsubscribed capital -                               -  

3. The assets of the regie                                         -                               -  

4.Assets of national research and development institutes                                         -                               -  

5. Other equity items                                         -                               -  

 
  

II. CAPITAL PREMIUM             12.481.743      11,400,586      

 
  

III. REVALUATION RESERVES                               -                               -  

 
  

IV. RESERVE                    53.959      176.410      

 
  

Own shares                              -                               -  

Gains related to equity instruments                              -                               -  

Losses related to equity instruments            (325.001)                     (325.001)      

Reserve from translation                          120    (22)     

V. REPORTED PROFIT Sold C                               2  1.348.779      

V. REPORTED LOSS Sold D              1.086.097      -  

   

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD Balance C          3.030.649      4.288.488 

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD Balance D                              -                               -  

   

Profit sharing                   312.248      122.216      

   

EQUITY - TOTAL       13.951.438      17.956.291       
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Public Heritage                              -                               -  

Private wealth                              -                               -  

 
  

CAPITAL - TOTAL        13.951.438      17.956.291       

 

 

14.2 APPENDIX NO 2- PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT GROUP CONNECTIONS AS AT 
31.12.2022 
 

 
RON RON 

 Name of indicators 2021 2022 

1. Net turnover                     44.598.067   57,794,557  

Income from Services                    42.845.148   52,748,381  

Income from sale of goods                      1.752.919   5,046,176  

3. Income from the production of tangible and intangible fixed assets                         684.848                          605.402  

4. Income from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets 
                                 -                                   -  

5. Income from investment property production                                   -                                   -  

6. Income from operating subsidies                                  -                                   -  

7. Other operating income                           35.198                            60.388  

of which, negative goodwill income                                  -                                   -  

of which, investment grant income                              7.172                              7.175  

OPERATING INCOME - TOTAL                     45.325.286  58,460,347 

8. a) Expenditure on raw materials and consumables                          119.793   128,462  

Other material expenditure                            19.557   8,087  

b) Other external expenditure (energy and water)                           19.109   21,663  

c) Expenditure on goods                       1.665.961   5,022,575  

Trade discounts received                                   -                                   -  

9. Staff expenditure, of which:                    22.854.990   26,153,268  

a) Salaries and allowances                     22.291.354   25,554,022  
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b) Insurance and social protection expenditure                         563.636   599,246  

10.a) Value adjustments on tangible and intangible assets                          454.631                          497.721  

a.1) Expenditure                          454.631                          497.721 

a.2) Revenue                                   -                                   -  

b) Value adjustments on current assets                            52.482                            13.145  

b.1) Expenditure                            52.482                            13.145  

b.2) Revenue                                    -                                   -  

11. Other operating expenditure                     16.408.821                     21.477.482  

11.1. Expenditure on external benefits  

                   16.008.740    20.863.120  

11.2. Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar charges  
                       248.893         308,802  

11.3 Environmental protection expenditure                                   -                                   -  

11.4 Expenditure on revaluation of tangible fixed assets                                   -                                   -  

11.5 Expenditure relating to disasters and similar events                                   -                                   -  

Other expenditure                          151.189                          305.559  

Refinancing interest expense recorded by deregistered entities with 

outstanding leases                                   -                                   -  

Adjustments to provisions                          268.874                          (40.598)  

Expenditure                          268.874                          -  

Income  
                                 -  

                                 

40.598   

OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL            41.864.217,29      53.281.806      

OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS: 

  
Profit                              3.461.068           5.178.541      

Losing  

  
9. Income from participating interests                                         -                                   -  

of which, income from affiliated entities                                         -                                   -  

13. Interest income  
                                      

52.561  

                          

165.330  
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of which, income from affiliated entities                                         -                                   -  

14. Operating subsidy income for interest due                                          -                                   -  

15. Other financial income                                   119.068                         70.001  

- of which, income from other fixed assets                                          -                                   -  

FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL                                   171.629                          235.331  

16. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets and financial investments 

held as current assets                                          -                                   -  

Expenditure                                          -                                   -  

Income                                          -                                   -  

13. Interest expenditure  
                                 39.782  

                          

132.175  

of which, expenditure in relation to affiliated entities                                         -                                   -  

Other financial charges                                 133.236                          168.512  

FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL                                 173.018                          300.687  

FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS:                                         -                                   -  

Profit        

Losing                                 1.389  
                            

65.357  

TOTAL REVENUE                            45.496.914                    58.695.678  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE                            42.037.235                    53.582.494  

18. GROSS PROFIT OR LOSS:                                         -                                   -  

- Profit                              3.459.679             5.113.184      

- Losing                                          -                                   -  

19. Corporate income tax                                 341.118                         786.407  

20. Other taxes not shown under the above items                                   87.913                           38.289  

 21.  NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR:                                         -                                   -  

Losing                                          -                                   -  

Profit                              3.030.649 4.288.488  
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14.3 ANNEX NO 3 - INDIVIDUAL BALANCE SHEET CONSULT SA CONNECTIONS AS AT 
DECEMBER 2022 

 
 

 01.01.2022 31.12.2022 

I.INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS   

1.Formation expenses (ct.201-2801) - - 

2.Development expenditure (ct.203-2803-2903)  - - 

3. Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks, similar rights and assets and 
other intangible assets (items 205 + 208 - 2805 - 2808 - 2905 - 2908) 912.534 1.196.167 

4. Commercial fund (ct.2071-2807) - - 

Intangible assets for exploration and evaluation of mineral resources (ct. 206-
2806-2906) - - 

6. Advances (ct.4094 - 4904) - - 

TOTAL (rd.01 to 06) 912.534 1.196.167 

II. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS     

1. Land and buildings (items 211 + 212 - 2811 - 2812 - 2911 - 2912) 108.701 19.184 

2. Technical installations and machinery (ct. 213 + 223 - 2813 - 2913) 199.019 123.694 

3. Other plant, machinery and furniture (ct. 214 + 224 - 2814 - 2914) 98.881 76.968 

4. Real estate investments (ct. 215 - 2815 - 2915) - - 

5. Tangible assets in course of construction (ct. 231-2931) - - 

6.Investments in immovable property under construction (ct. 235-2935)  - - 

7.Tangible assets for exploration and evaluation of mineral resources (ct. 216-
2816-2916) - - 

8.Biological productive assets (ct.217+227-2817-2917)  - - 

9. Advances (ct. 4093 - 4903) - - 

TOTAL (rd. 08 to 16) 406.601 219.845 

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS     

1. Shares held in subsidiaries (items 261 to 2961) 1.018.295 1.018.545 

2. Loans granted to group entities (items 2671 + 2672 - 2964) - - 

3. Shares held in associates and jointly controlled entities (ct. 262+263 - 2962) - - 

4. Loans granted to associates and jointly controlled entities (ct. 2673 + 2674 - 
2965) - - 

5. Other fixed assets (ct. 265 - 2963) - - 

6. Other loans (ct. 2675* + 2676* + 2677 + 2678* + 2679* - 2966* - 2968*) 515.908 693.050 

TOTAL (lines 18 to 23) 1.534.203 1.711.595 

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL (headings 07 + 17 + 24) 2.853.338 3.127.607 

B. CURRENT ASSETS     

I. STOCKS     

1. Raw materials and consumables (ct. 301 + 302 + 303 +/- 308 +321 + 322 + 
323 + 328 + 351 + 358 + 381 +/- 388 - 391 - 392 - 3951 - 3958 - 398) - - 

2. Work in progress (ct. 331 + 332 + 341 +/- 348* - 393 - 3941 -3952) - - 

3. Finished products and goods (ct. 345 + 346 + 347 +/- 348* + 354 + 356 + 357 
+ 361 + 326 +/-368 + 371 +327 +/- 378 - 3945 - 3946 - 3947 - 3953 - 3954 - 
3955 - 3956 - 3957 - 396 - 397 - of ct. 4428) - 315 

4. Advances (ct. 4091- 4901) - - 

TOTAL (lines 26 to 29)  - 315 

II. CLAIMS     
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1. Trade receivables 1) (ct. 2675* + 2676 *+ 2678* + 2679* - 2966* - 2968* 
+4092 + 411 + 413 + 418 - 4902- 491) 7.556.891 12.814.487 

2. Amounts receivable from affiliated entities (ct. 451** - 495*) 3.590.842 3.757.696 

3. Amounts receivable from associates and jointly controlled entities (ct. 453** 
- 495*) - - 

4. Other receivables (ct. 425+4282+431**+436** + 437**+ 4382+ 
441**+4424+ dct.4428**+ 444**+445+446**+447**+4482+4582+4662+ 461 + 
473** - 496 +5187) 746.405 883.919 

5. Subscribed and unpaid capital (items 456 - 495*)  - - 

6. Dividend receivables distributed during the financial year(ct. 463) - - 

TOTAL (rd. 31 to 35 +35a) 11.894.138 17.456.101 

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS     

1. Shares held in affiliated entities (items 501 to 591) - - 

2. Other short-term investments (items 505 + 506 + 507 + of items 508 - 595 - 
596 - 598 + 5113 + 5114) - - 

TOTAL (rd. 37 + 38)  - - 

IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS (from ct. 508+ct. 5112 + 512 + 531 + 532 + 
541 + 542) 7.881.549 4.553.405 

CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL (headings 30 + 36 + 39 + 40) 19.775.687 22.009.821 

C. ADVANCE EXPENDITURE (ct. 471) (rd.43+44)  75.471 2.140.305 

Amounts to be repaid within a period of up to one year (from ct. 471*) 75.471 630.623 

Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year (from ct. 471*)  - 1.509.681 

D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP TO 1 YEAR     

1. Loans from bond issues. showing separately loans from convertible bond 
issues (items 161 + 1681 - 169) - - 

2. Amounts owed to credit institutions (items 1621 + 1622 + 1624 + 1625 + 
1627 + 1682 + 5191 + 5192 + 5198) 1.975.790 2.500.000 

3. Advances received on orders (ct. 419) 16.469 16.269 

4. Trade payables - suppliers (ct. 401 + 404 + 408) 2.524.585 2.000.701 

5. Bills of exchange payable (ct. 403 + 405)  - - 

6. Amounts due to group entities (ct. 1661 + 1685 + 2691 + 451***)  - - 

7. Amounts due to associated entities and jointly controlled entities 
(ct.1663+1686+2692+2693+453***) 500.000 250.000 

8. Other liabilities. including tax and social security liabilities 3.758.746 4.038.464 

TOTAL (rd. 45 to 52)  8.775.590 8.805.435 

E. NET CURRENT ASSETS/NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (headings 41+43-53-70-
73-76) 11.034.754 13.253.101 

F. TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (rd. 25+44+54) 56 55 13.888.092 17.890.389 

G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF MORE THAN 1 YEAR     

1. Loans from bond issues. showing separately loans from convertible bond 
issues (items 161 + 1681 - 169) - - 

2. Amounts owed to credit institutions (items 1621 + 1622 + 1624 + 1625 + 
1627 + 1682 + 5191 + 5192 + 5198) - - 

3. Advances received on orders (ct. 419)  - - 

4. Trade payables - suppliers (ct. 401 + 404 + 408) - - 

5. Bills of exchange payable (ct. 403 + 405) - - 

6. Amounts due to group entities (ct. 1661 + 1685 + 2691 + 451***) - - 

7. Amounts due to associated entities and jointly controlled entities (ct. 1663 + 
1686 + 2692 + 2693 + 453***) - 650.000 
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8. Other liabilities. including tax and social security liabilities 148.122 75.440 

TOTAL (rd.56 to 63) 148.122 725.440 

H. PROVIZIOANE     

1. Provisions for employee benefits (ct. 1515+1517) 268.874 228.276 

2. Provisions for taxes (ct. 1516) 67 66 - - 

3. Other provisions (items 1511 + 1512 + 1513 + 1514 + 1518) 68 67 - - 

TOTAL (lines 65 to 67) 268.874 228.276 

I. PREPAID INCOME     

1. Investment grants (item 475) (headings 70+71)  40.814 29.562 

Amounts to be repaid within a period of up to one year (from ct. 475*)  40.814 29.562 

Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year (of ct. 475*) - - 

2. Deferred income (ct. 472) (rd.73 + 74) 73 72 - 1.573.597 

Amounts to be reused within a period of up to one year (from ct. 472*) - 552.347 

Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year (from ct. 472*)  - 1.021.250 

3. Prepaid income on assets received by transfer from customers (item 
478)(rows 76+77) - - 

Sums to be repaid within a period of up to one year (from ct. 478*) - - 

Amounts to be reopened within a period of more than one year (from ct. 478*) - - 

Negative goodwill (ct.2075) - - 

TOTAL (rd. 69 + 72 + 75 + 78)  40.814 1.603.159 

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES     

I. CAPITAL     

1. Paid-up subscribed capital (ct. 1012) 108.116 1.189.273 

2. Subscribed capital not paid up (item 1011) - - 

3. Assets of the Royalty (ct. 1015)  - - 

4. Assets of national research and development institutes (Ch. 1018)  - - 

5.Other equity items (1031) - - 

TOTAL (rd. 80 to 84) 108.116 1.189.273 

II. CAPITAL PREMIUM (ct. 104) 12.481.743 11.400.586 

III. REVALUATION RESERVES (Item 105) - - 

IV. RESERVE     

1. Legal reserves (ct. 1061)  21.623 143.839 

2. Statutory or contractual reserves (ct. 1063)  - - 

3. Other reserves (item 1068)  - - 

TOTAL (rd. 88 to 90) 21.623 143.839 

Own shares (ch. 109)  - - 

Gains related to equity instruments (item 141)  - - 

Losses on equity instruments (item 149)  325.001 325.001 

V. RETAINED PROFIT OR LOSS     

 SOLD C (ct. 117)  2 1.184.615 

SOLD D (ct. 117)  - - 

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR     

SOLD C (ct. 121)  1.206.196 2.444.327 

SOLD D (ct. 121) - - 

Distribution of profit (ch. 129) 21.583 122.216 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - TOTAL (headings 85+86+87+91-92+93-94+95-96 
+97-98-99) 13.471.096 15.915.423 

Public assets (ct. 1016)  - - 

Private property (ct. 1017)  - - 
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CAPITAL - TOTAL (headings 100+101+102) (headings 25+41+42-53-64-68-79)  13.471.096 15.915.423 

 

14.4  ANNEX NO 4 - PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA AS AT 
31.12.2022 

 

Name of the element Bilantier 
01.01.2021-
31.12.2021 

01.01.2022-
31.12.2022 

A 1 2 

1. Net turnover (rd. 2+3-4+6)            31.905.005           41.829.811  

- of which net turnover corresponding to the predominant activity actually carried out             31.905.005            41.758.771  

Sold production (ct. 701+702+703+704+705+706+708)              30.152.086           36.769.595  

Income from sale of goods (ct.707)                1.752.919             5.060.216  

Trade discounts granted (ct.709)                           -                          -  

Income from operating subsidies on net turnover (ct.7411)                           -                          -  

2.Income relating to the cost of work in progress (item 711+712)                           -                          -  

Sold C                           -                          -  

Sold D                           -                          -  

3.Income from the production of intangible and tangible fixed assets (ch.721 +722)                    67.595                 281.065  

4. Income from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets (ct.755)                           -                          -  

5. Income from investment property (ct.725)                           -                          -  

6. Revenue from operating subsidies (items 7412+7413+7414+7415+7416+7417+7419)                           -                          -  

7.Other operating revenue (ct.751+758+7815)                    35.198  53.213  

-of which, revenue from investment grants (item 7584)                           -                   23.252  

-of which, income from negative goodwill (item 7815)                           -                          -  

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS - TOTAL (headings 01+07-08+09+10+11+12+13)            32.007.798           42.164.089  

8.a) Expenditure on raw materials and consumables (ct.601+ct602)                  106.097                 123.167  

Other material expenditure (ct.603+604+606+608)                    16.598                   20.344  

b) Other external expenditure (on energy and water) (heading 605)                    17.177                   21.663  

of which energy consumption expenditure (item 6051)                    17.177                   21.663  

c) Expenditure on goods (ct.607)                1.665.961             5.022.736  

Trade discounts received (ct.609)                           -                          -  

9.Staff expenditure (headings 23+24)            18.126.442           20.806.398  

a) Salaries and allowances (ct.641+642+643+644)              17.737.000             20.351.957  

b) Expenditure on social security and social protection (ct.645+ct646)                  389.442                 454.441  

10.a) Value adjustments on tangible and intangible fixed assets (lines 26-27)                 410.934                306.267  

a.1) Expenditure (item 6811+6813+6817+of item 6818)                  410.934                 306.267  

a.2) Revenue (item 7813+of item 7818)                           -                          -  

b) Value adjustments on current assets (lines 29-30)                   52.482                  13.145  

b.1) Expenditure (ct.654+6814+of ct.6818)                    52.482                   13.145  

b.2) Revenue (ct.754+7814+of ct.7818)                           -                          -  

11. Other operating expenditure (headings 32 to 37)              9.963.730           13.090.449  

11.1 Expenditure on external services (items 
611+612+613+614+615+621+622+623+624+625+626+627+628) 

               9.614.371           12.577.320  

11.2. Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar charges; expenditure on transfers and 
contributions payable under special legal acts (ct.635 +6586) 

                 247.846                 308.382  

11.3 Environmental protection expenditure (ct.652)                           -                          -  

11.4 Expenditure on the revaluation of tangible fixed assets (item 655)                           -                          -  

11.5 Expenditure relating to disasters and similar events (ct.6587)                           -                          -  

11.6 Other expenditure (ct.651+6581+6582+6583+6584+6588)                  101.513                 204.747  
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Adjustments to provisions (rd.40-41)                  268.874  
                        

(40.598)    

-expenses (ct.6812)                  268.874                          -  

-Waste (ct.7812)                           -  40.598 

OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL (RD. 17 to 20-21+22+25+28+31+39)            30.628.295           39.363.571  

OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS     

-Profit (rd16-42)              1.379.593             2.800.517  

-Loss (rd.42-46)                          -                         -  

12. Income from participating interests (ct.7611+7612+7613)                           -                          -  

-of which, income from affiliated entities                            -                          -  

13. Interest income (ct.766)                    52.544                 164.415 

-of which, income from affiliated entities                           -                          -  

14. Income from operating subsidies on interest due (ct.7418)                           -                          -  

15. Other financial income (items 762+764+765+767+768+7615)                  115.023                   53.277  

-of which, income from other financial fixed assets (item 7615)                           -                          -  

FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL (headings 45+47+49+50)                 167.567                217.692  

16. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets and financial investments held as current assets 
(headings 54-55) 

                          -                         -  

-expenses (ct.686)                           -                          -  

-Waste(ct.786)                           -                          -  

17. Interest-related expenditure (ct.666)                    39.782                 132.175  

-of which, spent in relation to affiliated entities                           -                          -  

18. Other financial charges (ct.663+664+665+667+668)                    95.009                   95.998  

FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL (headings 53+56+58)                 134.791                228.173  

FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS(A)     

-Profit (rd. 52-59)                   32.776                         -  

- Loss (rd. 59-52)                          -                  10.481  

TOTAL REVENUE (headings 16+52)            32.175.365           42.381.781  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE (headings 42+59)            30.763.086           39.591.744  

19. GROSS PROFIT OR LOSS(A)     

- Profit (rd. 62-63)              1.412.279             2.790.037  

- Loss (rd. 63-62)                          -                         -  

20. Corporation tax (ct.691)                  206.083                 345.710  

21. Tax specific to certain activities (ct.695)                         -                          -  

22. Other taxes not shown under items above (c.698)                         -                          -  

23. NET PROFIT OR LOSS(A) FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD    

-Profit (rd. 64-65-66-67-68)              1.206.196             2.444.327  

-Loss (rd. 65+66+67+68-64)                          -                         -  
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14.5 APPENDIX 5 - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
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14.6 ANNEX NO 6- BALANCE SHEET OMFP 1802/2014 CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA 
DECEMBER 2022
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CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. 

Headquarters : Bucharest, Sector 1, 75-77 Buzesti Street, Et. 14 

Com.Reg.Nr: J40/11864/2005 

C.U.I.: RO17753763 

Social capital : 1.189. 273 lei 

 

CONNECTION CONSULT S.A. presents the following notes to the financial statements as at 31.12.2022: 

1. COMPANY PRESENTATION 
 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA. is a European company of innovative technology companies, founded in 2005 in Bucharest 

under Law 31/1990 and is registered at the Trade Register under number J40/11864/2005. 

 

The company belongs to the category of medium-sized entities as defined in the European Commission's SME Definition 

User Manual. 

 

These financial statements are our own and do not belong to a group. 

 

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, POLICIES AND METHODS  
 

Principles underlying the preparation of the financial statements 

 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management and have been prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of Romanian accounting standards, namely Accounting Law no. 82/1991, republished and Order 

of the Minister of Public Finance ("OMF") no. 1802/2014, as amended.  

 

These regulations partially transpose the provisions of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the 

Council on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports of certain types of 

undertakings amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council 

Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC, published in the Official Journal of the European Union No L 182 of 29 June 2013. 
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OMF No 1802/2014 as amended is harmonised with European Directives IV and VII and differs from International Financial 

Reporting Standards. As a result, these financial statements are not in line with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

These financial statements, prepared in accordance with OMF no. 1802/2014 as amended, must not be used by third 

parties or by users of the financial statements who are not familiar with OMF no. 1802/2014 applicable in Romania. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principles regulated by OMF no. 1802/2014 with 

subsequent amendments as follows: 

1) Business continuity principle.  

2) Principle of permanence of methods.  

3) The principle of prudence. 

4) Accrual accounting principle.  

5) Principle of intangibility. 

6) The principle of separate valuation of assets and liabilities.  

7)The principle of non-compensation.  

8) Accounting for and presentation of items in the balance sheet and income statement taking into account the 

economic substance of the transaction or commitment in question (economic over legal); 

9) Valuation principle at acquisition cost or production cost.  

10) Threshold of significance principle.  

 

Business continuity 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will continue 

in normal operation for the foreseeable future without becoming unable to continue as a going concern and without a 

significant reduction in business.  

Comparative situations 

For each balance sheet item, profit and loss account item, and where applicable, for the statement of changes in equity 

and the cash flow statement, the amount relating to the corresponding item for the previous financial year is shown.  

Using estimates 

Statutory accounting records do not always provide sufficient information to accurately determine the adjustments and 
disclosures required, which is why estimates have been made based on the best available information. Although these 
individual estimates are subject to some degree of uncertainty, the overall effect on the financial statements is considered 
immaterial. 

Correction of accounting errors 
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The correction of accounting errors is made against the retained earnings. Prior period errors are omissions or 

misstatements contained in the entity's financial statements for one or more prior periods resulting from an error in using 

or not using reliable information that: 

- were available at the time the financial statements for those periods were approved for issue 
- could reasonably have been obtained and taken into account in the preparation and presentation of these 

financial statements.   
 

The accounting records on which these financial statements are based are made in RON ("RON") at historical cost, except 
for those situations where fair value has been used, in accordance with the Company's accounting policies and with OMF 
1802/2014 as amended. 

The following specific accounting policies have been applied by the Company: 

Tangible fixed assets 

 

(i) Cost 

 

Tangible fixed assets are initially valued at cost determined in accordance with the valuation rules of OMF. 1802/2014, 

depending on the method of entry into the unit. 

Tangible fixed assets are shown in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

The cost of fixed assets acquired consists of the purchase price and the value of other directly attributable costs incurred 

in transporting the assets to the current location and the cost of site development.   

In the context of the sale of fixed assets, the gain or loss on the sale or retirement of an asset is determined as the 

difference between the proceeds from the sale of the asset and its net book value. Realised gains or losses are recognised 

in the Profit and Loss Account. 

 

(ii) Depreciation 
 

Tangible and intangible fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the time 

they are brought into use. 

The main useful lives used for the different categories of property, plant and equipment are:  

• Technical installations (electronic computers and peripheral equipment): 3 years  

• Means of transport: 4-6 years 

• Tools, devices, instruments and tool kits: 2-10 years 

• Furniture, office equipment and others: 2-11 years 

• Intangible fixed assets 8 Years or according to the duration of use 
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Intangible assets 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) shall be recognised 

if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following: 

a)the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it is available for use or sale; 

(b)its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

c)its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

d)how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the entity can 

demonstrate the existence of a market for the output generated by the intangible asset or for the intangible asset itself 

or, if it is expected to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; 

(e)the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development of the intangible 

asset and to use or sell it; 

(f)its ability to measure reliably the costs attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Intangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the time they are put into 

service, so that the cost decreases to the estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives.  

Depreciation of fixed assets 

The Company makes provisions for impairment of fixed assets, other than deferred tax and financial assets, whenever 

their carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of 

an asset's net selling price and its value in use. The value in use of an asset is the present value of the estimated future 

cash flows expected from the continuing use of that asset and from its sale. 

Stocks 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is estimated on the basis of the 

selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs to complete and selling costs. Stocks are valued by the company 

on the basis of the purchase cost principle. 

 

Claims 

Receivables are valued at their estimated realisable value and, following analysis of the recoverability of certain 

receivables, insignificant provisions have been made for doubtful debts. For doubtful receivables an estimate was made 

based on an analysis of all outstanding amounts at the balance sheet date.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include liquid assets and comprise cash in hand and cash in bank accounts. 

Debts 
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Debts are recorded at historical cost in RON. The exchange rate used to convert payables into foreign currency is either that 

indicated by the customs authorities for imports, or that valid at the date of invoicing of services, or that valid at the date of the 

transaction according to the relevant regulations. 

At each year-end all foreign currency liabilities are revalued using the exchange rate prevailing at the year-end and posted by 

the National Bank of Romania ("NBR"). All resulting gains or losses are included in the profit and loss account. 

Provisions 

Provisions are established when there is a precise cause of an economic event and there is uncertainty as to the extent to which 

that event will materialise. The Company recognises provisions in accordance with the accounting policies in force at the date 

of preparation of the financial statements. 

A provision will be recognised in the accounts when the following conditions are cumulatively met:  

- The company has a present obligation arising from a previous event;  

- It is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to meet this obligation;  

- A reliable estimate of the value of the obligation can be made.  

The company makes provisions for: - litigation, fines and penalties, indemnities, damages and other uncertain liabilities; 

- expenses related to service activity during the warranty period and other expenses related to the warranty given to 

customers.  

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If an outflow of 

resources is no longer probable for the settlement of an obligation, the provision shall be reversed to income. 

Loans 

Short and long-term loans are shown at the amount outstanding at the balance sheet date.  

Share capital 

The subscribed and paid-up share capital was recorded separately in the accounts, on the basis of the legal entity's articles 

of incorporation and supporting documents on capital payments. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and is exclusive of VAT and discounts. The Company's income excludes value 

added tax and comprises the value of goods sold and services rendered, as well as gains from any source, such as sales of 

fixed assets. 

 

Interest income is recognised periodically on a pro-rata basis as the income is earned, based on the accounting for 

accruals. 

Connections Consult S.A. recognizes the following types of income: 
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● Recognition of operating income - services rendered, income from the production of fixed assets, other operating 
income; 

● Revenue recognition for Time and Material contracts - T&M contracts are contracts that generally involve billing 
revenue based on units of time performed (hours, days, months) at negotiated rates per unit of time. Revenue 
relating to T&M contracts is recognised as services are rendered and the related costs are incurred, based on 
billable time, at a rate negotiated with the beneficiaries; 

● Revenue Recognition for Fixed Price Contracts - A fixed price contract is a contract where the price is usually not 
subject to adjustment due to costs incurred, does not depend on the resources used or the time allocated to the 
project. It takes into account the value of the milestones specified in the contract as occurring during the life of 
the project and until completion.  

● Revenue recognition for resold service contracts - Resold service revenue is revenue generated under contracts 
involving the subcontracting of services to third parties, legal entities, transferring partial responsibility for the 
delivery that the company charges from the end customer to the subcontractor. They are recognised at the time 
the services are performed by the party performing the services in question. 

● Revenue recognition from maintenance/recurring service contracts - Revenue generated under maintenance 
contracts is negotiated in a fixed amount over a period of time (at least one year), invoiced to customers on a 
quarterly or monthly basis and recognised monthly in the period in which the service is provided. 

● Recognition of revenue from proprietary software sales contracts - Revenue from the sale of licences for the use 
of proprietary software applications is recognised when the right to use the licence is transferred from the user 
to the customer. 

● Recognition of rental income - Revenue from royalties, rents are recognised on an accrual basis, as per the 
contract. 

 

Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Contributions for employees 

The company pays contributions to the State Budget for social insurance, social pension and unemployment benefit 

according to the levels established by law and in force during the year, calculated on the basis of gross salaries.  

The amount of payroll expenses is recorded in the income statement in the same period as other related company 

contributions 

 

Financial result 

This includes interest payable on loans, interest receivable on cash at banks and term deposits made, and exchange rate 

differences. The accrual principle is followed for the recognition of these items. 

 

 

Borrowing costs 

Interest expense is recognised in the income statement when it arises. 

Corporate tax 
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Income tax is calculated on the basis of the result for the year adjusted for various non-deductible items. It is calculated 

using the corporation tax rate in force at the balance sheet date. The tax rate for 2022 is 16%. 

Financial leasing 

Leases for tangible fixed assets in which the Company assumes all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 

finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the estimated present value of payments. Each payment is apportioned 

between the principal and interest element to provide a constant interest rate over the repayment period.  Amounts due 

are included in short-term or long-term liabilities.  

The interest element is charged to the profit and loss account over the life of the contract. Assets held under finance 

leases are capitalised and depreciated over their useful lives. 

Transactions in foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded in the accounts at the exchange rate on the transaction date. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into RON at the exchange rate on the 

balance sheet date. The exchange rate at 31 December 2022 was RON 4.9474 to EUR 1. The exchange rate at 31 December 

2021 was RON 4.9481 to EUR 1. 

All differences arising from the settlement and translation of foreign currency amounts are recognised in the income 

statement in the year in which they arise. Realised and unrealised losses are expensed, including those on loans. 

 

3. FIXED ASSETS  

Change in gross value, depreciation and net book value during the financial year ending 31 December 2022: 

• Intangible assets 

 

 

Elemente de imobilizari

Sold initial Cresteri Sold Final

Total (col.5 =1+2+3)

1 2 3

I. Imobilizari Necorporale

Cheltuieli de constituire si cheltuieli de dezvoltare 0 0 0 0 0 0

Alte imobilizari 1,140,716       363,710.66 2,398                  0 0 1,502,029                                     

Avansuri acordate pentru imobilizari necorporale 0 0 0 0 0 0

Active Necorporale de explorare si evaluare a resurselor 

minerale

Total 1,140,716       363,711      2,398                  -                          -                 1,502,029                                     

Reduceri

Valori Brute

Din care: dezmembrari si casari
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• Tangible fixed assets 
 

 

 

Fixed assets are recorded at acquisition cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis with depreciation rates 

established in accordance with the provisions of Law 15 of 1994, Law no. 227/2015 and H.G. no. 2139 / 2004. 

Group " Construction " includes : 

Office space refurbishment 

The normal operating lives of the main fixed assets used during 2022 by the Company are : 

 

Elemente de imobilizari Sold initial

Amortizare 

in cursul 

anului

Amortizare 

aferenta 

imobilizarilor 

scoase din 

evidenta

Sold Final

Total

Din care: 

dezmembrari si 

casari

(col.5 =1+2+3)

1 2 3

I. Imobilizari Necorporale

Cheltuieli de constituire si cheltuieli de dezvoltare 0 0 0 0 0

Alte imobilizari           228,182          77,680 0 0                                         305,862 

Active Necorporale de explorare si evaluare a resurselor 

minerale
                    -                   -   0 0                                                   -   

Total           228,182          77,680 0 0                                         305,862 

Valoarea Neta Contabila           912,534                    2,398                                      1,196,167 

Amortizare la sfarsitul anului (Col.9 = 6+7+8)

Elemente de imobilizari

Sold initial Cresteri Sold Final

II. Imobilizari Corporale

Terenuri 0 0 0 0 0 0

Constructii 711,267          0 0 0 0 711,267                                        

Instalatii tehnice si masini 523,286          -              0 0 0 523,286                                        

Alte instalatii, utilaje si mobilier 297,347          41,831 7914.2 0 0 331,264                                        

Investitii imobiliare 0 0 0 0 0 -                                               

Active Corporale si explorare si evaluare a resurselor 

minerale
0 0 0 0 0 -                                               

Active biologice productive 0 0 0 0 0 -                                               

Imobilizari corporale in curs de executie 0 0 0 0 0 -                                               

Investitii imobiliare in curs de executie 0 0 0 0 0 -                                               

Avansuri acrodate pentru imobilizari corporale 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1,531,900       41,831        7,914                  -                          -                 1,565,817                                     

Reduceri

Valori Brute

Elemente de imobilizari Sold initial

Amortizare 

in cursul 

anului

Amortizare 

aferenta 

imobilizarilor 

scoase din 

evidenta

Sold Final

Total

Din care: 

dezmembrari si 

casari

(col.5 =1+2+3)

II. Imobilizari corporale

Terenuri 0 0 0 0 0                                                   -   

Constructii           602,566 89,516.69 0 0 0                                         692,083 

Instalatii tehnice si masini           344,616 75,325.40 0 0 0                                         419,942 

Alte instalatii, utilaje si mobilier 178,116 63,744.99 7914.2 0 0                                         233,947 

Investitii imobiliare 0 0 0 0 0                                                   -   

Active corporale de explorare si evaluare a resurselor 

minerale
0 0 0 0 0                                                   -   

Active biologice productie 0 0 0 0 0                                                   -   

Total        1,125,299        228,587                    7,914                              -                       -                                        1,345,972 

Valoarea Neta Contabila           406,601                                         219,845 

Amortizare la sfarsitul anului (Col.9 = 6+7+8)
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Name of fixed assets Duration (months/years)           

Office space 36-59 Months depending on contract duration    

Electronic computers and peripherals 2 -4 Years 

Means of transport for persons 4 -6 years old 

Furniture 3-4 Years 

 

4  STOCKS 

Stocks 

Sold to  

1 January 2022   

Sold to  

31 December 2022 

 

      

Marfuri  -  315 

 

Total -  315 

 

5  CREANTE 

   As at 31.12.2022 and 2021 respectively, the Company's receivables have the following structure: 

Law 

Sold to 
Liquidity term 

31 December 2022 

  under 1 year over 1 year 

Commercial creditor         12.215.727            12.215.727     - 

Supplier Advances (409) 32.257 32.257 - 

Claims with the state 

budget and social security 
196.286 196.286 - 

Other receivables (Sundry 

debtors) 
687.633* 687.633 - 

Receivables from 

affiliated entities 
3.757.696 3.757.696 - 
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Non-current receivables                    566.502              566.502  - 

Total         17.456.100    17.259.756      -  

* The amount of RON 687,633 in the category "Other Receivables" includes the balance of account 473 - "Settlement of 

transactions in course of clarification". 

Lei 

Sold to 
Liquidity term 

31 December 2021 

  
under 1 year 

over 1 

year 

Commercial creditor                7.550.985     7.550.985  -  

Supplier Advances(409)                             -                  -   -  

Other receivables (Sundry 

debtors) 
577.947  577.947*   -  

Receivables from affiliated 

entities 
               3.590.842     3.590.842   -  

Non-current receivables                    174.364        174.364   -  

Total              11.894.138   11.894.138 -  

    

 

* The amount of RON 577,947 in the category "Other receivables" includes the balance of account 4382 - "Other 

receivables from the state budget and social security". 

 

6  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Sold to  

  
Sold to  

1 January 2022 31 December 2022 

        

Bank accounts in lei                7.849.258    3.204.501 

Bank accounts in lei equivalent currency                     21.371    1.309.493 
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Cash at home                     10.920    27.741 

Treasury advances -   11.670 

Other values -   - 

  
               7.881.549    4.553.405 

Total 

 

7  DEBTS 

As at 31.12.2022 and 2021, respectively, the Company's liabilities have the following structure: 

Lei 

Sold to 
Due date 

31 December 

2022 
Under 1 

year 
Over 1 year 

Trade debts         2.016.971    2.016.971  -  

Debts to staff            815.546       815.546  - 

Debts to the state budget, social security bug. 

and fd.spec. 
        1.551.025    1.551.025  - 

Other debts         2.555.987  1.905.987  650.000 

Leasing              91.346         15.906          75.440  

Medium-term loan                      -   -  - 

Short-term loan         2.500.000    2.500.000  - 

Total         9.530.875  8.805.434        725.440  

The balance of RON 2,555,987 includes the dividends declared and remaining to be paid on 31.12.2022 for shareholders 

registered in the company's records before 30.06.2021 in the amount of RON 1,394,159. The balance also includes the 

remaining payments to be made for the acquisition of SC Brusch S.A. shares during 2023, in the amount of RON 250,000 

and the remaining amount to be paid in the amount of RON 650,000 according to the corporate agreement between 

Connections Consult SA and 10Plus Future Education SRL.  

Lei 
Sold to 

Due date 
 

31 December  
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2021 Under 1 year Over 1 year  

Trade debts               2.541.054        2.541.054  -  

Debts to staff                  726.125           726.125  -  

Debts to the state budget, 

social security bug. and fd.spec. 
              1.034.597        1.034.597  -  

Other debts       2.482.904       2.482.904  -  

Leasing                  163.243             15.120                   148.122   

Medium-term loan                            -   -  -  

Short-term loan               1.975.790        1.975.790  -  

Total               8.964.527        8.775.590                   148.122   

 

The company has concluded 1 leasing contract on 31.12.2022 as shown below: 

Leasing 

Company 

Object 

leasing 

Date 

contract 

Price of the 

purchased good 

Advances Financed 

value 

Sold 

31.12.2022 

(without VAT) (without VAT) (without VAT) 

 TOYO 

MOTOR 

LEASING 

IFN SA 

 AUTOTURISM 05.10.2021  € 25,966.39  € 3,894.96  € 30,379.30  91,346.38 

lei 

 

Loans 

In December 2022, the Company closed the credit line contracted with Banca Transilvania. The table below provides a 

summary of the loans/lines of credit outstanding as at 31 December 2022. 

Banking Product type* 
Destination 

facilitated 

Amount granted 

(incl. 

supplements) 

(RON) 

Date of 

granting 
Expiry date 

 Annual 

interest rate 

Repayment plan 

type (equal 

principal/equal 

instalments, 

regular/non-

regular - details) 

Guarantees 

(description, owner, 

assessed market 

value) 

Used 

31.12.2022 

EximBank S.A. 
CREDIT LINE 

IMM INVEST 

WORKING 

CAPITAL 
2.000.000 08.10.2020 23.08.2023 

Robor 3M + 

2.5%  

interest 

payment* 

Mortgage balances 

+ Movable 

mortgage deposit 

balance 400.000 lei 

- 
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ProCredit Bank 

S.A. 

CREDIT LINE 

IMM INVEST 

WORKING 

CAPITAL 
2.500.000 21.06.2022 06.06.2024 

ROBOR 

3M+1.75% 
Interest payment 

Movable mortgage 

balances + fixed 

assets 

2.500.000 

 

Guarantees associated with loans: 

 

The guarantees associated with the loans are highlighted in the table above. They remain in force until all the guarantor's 

obligations under the guarantee contracts have been met in full. 

 

8  PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 

As at 31.12.2022, a provision of RON 228,276 has been set up for leave not taken by the company's employees up to the 

reporting date. The aforementioned balance results from the partial reversal of the provision set up in December 2021 in 

the amount of RON 268,874. Depending on the context, the provision may be revised, and there are significant premises 

for its partial or full reversal. 

 

9  CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 As of 31.12.2022, the share capital of the Company is 1.189.273 RON, with a number of 11.892.727 shares and a nominal 

value of 0,1 lei/share, held in the following proportions:  

 

Physical Person:                 BOGDAN LIVIU FLOREA                75.0779% 

Legal entity:   CERTINVEST MANAGEMENT                 1.0053% 

Natural and legal persons:  LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS    23.9168% 

 

The change in the amount, structure of the share capital occurred following the issuance of new shares in scrip issue 

during 2022.  

On March 23, 2022, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the company approved the increase of the 
share capital of S.C. Connections Consult S.A. by the amount of 1,081,157 lei representing 10,811,570 new shares with 
a nominal value of 0.1 lei/share through the partial use of share premiums for the benefit of shareholders. As a result 
of the increase, the value of the share capital expressed in lei becomes RON 1,189,273 and the total number of shares 
is 11,892,727.  
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  10  OPERATING INCOME (INCL. TURNOVER) 

 

The net turnover as of 31.12.2022 is 41.829.811 RON equivalent to 8,454,907.87 Euro at the closing exchange rate of BNR 

31 December 2022, 4.9474 RON/EUR. 

The operating income earned during 2022 has the following structure: 

Operating Income Component Dec'22 

  RON  

Sale Licenses            5,046,337   

Active ceding                      415   

BPO Services           20,747,966   

Internal software development services               281,065   

RPA services            1,038,815   

Software implementation services            8,218,891   

ITO Services             5,819,744   

Outsourcing Services               873,138   

Subcontract rental                 71,040   

Sale of equipment                 13,879   

Grant Income               23,252   

Other Operating Income               29,548   

Total Operating Income        42,164,089   

 

  11  PROFIT SHARING -  

Destination- RON - 2021 2022 

Profit to be distributed 1.206.196 2.444.326 

- legal reserve 21.583 122,216 

- coverage of accounting loss - - 
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- dividend - - 

- other allocations own sources of financing - - 

Retained profit for the year 1.184.613 2.322.111 

 

At the end of the financial year 2022, the Company made a gross accounting profit in the amount of RON 2,790,037, as 

the difference between total revenues of RON 42,381,781 and total expenses of RON 39,591,744. 

The non-deductible expenses of the company amounted to 599,087 RON, the taxable fiscal profit being 2,921,197 RON, 

after deduction of the legal reserves constituted on 31 December 2022. 

The gross income tax calculated was in the amount of RON 467,392 from which RON 78,000 was deducted representing 

the maximum amount allowed by tax law. The company benefited from a bonus under GEO 153/2020 in the amount of 

RON 46,727. Thus the resulting net income tax expense as at 31 December 2022 is RON 345,710. 

Following the calculation of the income tax as at 31 December 2022, the net profit of the Company is RON 2,444,327 

being the undistributed amount as at the balance sheet date.  

At the date of signing the financial statements, no distributions from the 2022 profit have been decided. 

 

12   ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL INDICATORS           

 

I. LIQUIDITY INDICATORS 

  

    
Current Liquidity   2021 2022 

Current Assets 

 

       19,769,782         22,009,821  

Current Liabilities 

 

         8,928,929           8,805,435  

A/B 

 

2.21 2.50 

    
II. RISK INDICATORS 

   

    
Degree of indebtedness   2021 2022 

Borrowed capital 

 

9,092,171.60 9,530,875.20 

Own Capital 

 

       13,471,096         15,915,423  

A/B 

 

                  0.67                    0.60  
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Degree of Interest Coverage   2021 2022 

Profit before payment of interest and 

corporation tax  

 

         1,339,721           2,668,343  

Interest-related expenditure  

 

              39,872              132,175  

A/B 

 

                     34                       20  

    

    
III. ACTIVITY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

 

    

Customer Balance Turnover Speed   2021 2022 

Sold Clients 

 

         2,406,981           6,033,282  

Net Turnover 

 

       31,905,005         41,829,811  

A/B X 365 DAYS 

 

                     28                       53  

    

    
Balance Rotation Speed    2021 2022 

Sold Suppliers 

 

            639,279           1,738,466  

Cost of Services Sold 

 

       30,628,295         39,404,169  

A/B X 365 DAYS 

 

                       8                       16  

    
IV. PROFITABILITY INDICATORS 

 

    
Net Profit Rate   2021 2022 

Net Profit  

 

         1,206,196           2,444,326  

Net turnover 

 

       31,905,005         41,829,811  

A/B 

 

4% 6% 

    
Return on Capital Employed 2021 2022 

Profit before payment of interest and corporate 

income tax          1,339,721           2,668,343  
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Total assets minus current liabilities        13,888,092         17,890,390  

A/B 

 

10% 15% 

 

I. Liquidity indicators 

Current liquidity indicator (working capital indicator), expresses how many times current liabilities are included in current 

assets 

The values obtained (recommended values around 2), reflect a very good capacity to cover current liabilities from current 

assets, and mainly from receivables and cash. 

II. Risk indicators 

The degree of indebtedness of the equity capital expresses how many times the borrowed capital (loans for a period 

longer than one year) is included in the equity capital and reflects the financing structure of the company at the end of 

the financial year.  

The interest cover indicator reflects how many times interest expenses can be covered from profit before interest and 

tax. The lower the value of the indicator, the riskier the company's position.  

 

III. Activity (management) efficiency indicators 

The turnover speed of the receivables balance expresses the number of days until the date when debtors pay their debts 

to the company and thus shows the effectiveness of the company in collecting its debts.  

The turnover speed of the supplier balance expresses the number of days of credit that the Company obtains from its 

suppliers. 

IV. Profitability indicators 

Return on capital employed is the return the Company earns on the money invested in the business. Committed capital 

refers to the money invested in the Company by shareholders and long-term creditors and includes equity and long-term 

debt. 

 

13  INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES 

 

At the end of 2021, the average number of employees of the Company was 209 and the actual number of employees 

existing at the end of the period was 239. 

On 31.12.2022 the average number of employees was 234 and the actual number of employees at the end of the period 

was 252.  

Expenditure on salaries and related contributions was as follows: 



 

 

P
ag

e8
6

 

 

Law 2021 2022 

Expenditure on staff salaries (including meal 

vouchers) 17.737.000 20.351.957 

Expenditure on insurance and social protection 389.442 454.441 

Total 18.126.442 20.806.398 

         

 In 2022, the Company granted meal vouchers in the amount of RON 471,275.  

There were no fees paid to administrators and no management services. 

   

14  RESULT OF EXPLOITATION 

Indicator Balance 

sheet form 

Exercise Exercise 

F20 Previous 

2021 

Current 

2022 

1.Net turnover Rd 01 31.905.005 41.829.811 

2.Cost of goods sold and services rendered (3+4+5 ) - 30.359.421 39.363.571 

3.Core activity expenditure Rd 42-32-

33-37-39 

20.395.691 26.273.122 

Other operating expenditure Rd 31 9.963.730 13.090.449 

5.Indirect production costs - - - 

6.Gross result on net turnover (1-2) - 1.545.583 2.466.239 

7. Adjustments to provisions - 268.874 (40.598) 

8. Other operating income  Rd 12+13 102.793 334.278 

9. Operating result (6-7+8) - 1.379.503 2.800.518 

 

15  OTHER INFORMATION 
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15.1. Commitments given and received 

In order to guarantee the obligation to repay the short-term credit line IMM Invest contracted with Banca Romaneasca 

for the current operating activity, the company has carried out a Mortgage on the balance + Movable mortgage on the 

balance of the deposit 400.000 lei. 

15.2. Related and affiliated parties 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.R.L presents the following turnover and balances resulting from transactions with group 

companies  

INTRAGROUP 

CONNECTIONS 

CONSULT 

Sales 2022 

to: 

Explanations 

SALES: 

Purchases 

2022 from : 

Explanation of 

the 

ACQUISITIONS: 

Creditor 

balance 

2022 of 

the : 

Debt 

balance 

2022 to: 

OUTSOURCING 

SUPPORT 

SERVICES S.R.L 

4.192.662 -- 90.944,84 Monthly 

services 

3.206.944 348.417 

Connections 

Technologies SRL 

231.587,10 Software 

Rentals & 

Licenses and 

Software 

Development 

3.643.776 Sofrtware 

Implementation 

Services 

35.828 129.559 

BRUSCH SERVICES 

SRL 

0.00 - 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 

CONNECTIONS 

CONSULT DOO 

BELGRADE 

0.00 - 29.537,20 - 0.00 5.883 

CONNECTIONS 

CONSULT EOOD  

0.00 - 53.018 - 0.00 0.00 

 

Settlement with Associates at 31.12.2022 (account 4511) 
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Cont Dec-22 
Sold 31.12.2022 

  debit credit 

4511 Connections Technologies 6.401.560,99 6.234.752,29 3.476.807,64 

4511 Connections Consult Serbia 0.00 0.00 40,843.22 

4511 Connections Consult Bulgaria 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4511 OSSR 0.00 00.00 45 

4511 Brusch 0.00 0.00 240.000 

Total     

                    

3,757,696  

 

 

Disputes 

The company has no pending litigation in which it is a defendant.  

 

Other information 

Rent expenses  

Rent expenses, recorded in account 612, amounting to 478,330 lei, represent the cost of renting the premises where the 

Company has its headquarters as well as car rentals. 

Audit expenses  

In compliance with the provisions of OMFP 1802/2014 in conjunction with the AeRO Stock Exchange regulations, the 

company has entered into an audit services contract with SC Argus Audit SRL for the audit of the financial statements for 

the financial year ending 31 December 2022.  

The company has prepared annual financial statements which comprise: 

 1. balance sheet (code 10); 

 2. profit and loss account (code 20); 

 3. notes to the annual financial statements 

4. cash flow statement   

They are accompanied by the "Information data" form (code 30) and the "Fixed assets situation" form (code 40) 
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The contractual costs for the audit activity of the company, according to the Order of the Minister of Public Finance no. 

1802/2014, as amended for the financial year ending on 31 December 2022 derive from the audit contract no. AUD 01 / 

20.01.2022. 

 

The company has concluded an accounting services contract with Global Accounting Profesional S.A.  

Taxation 

S.C. CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. is from a fiscal point of view a payer of income tax, and in 2022 it obtained a gross profit 

in the amount of 2.790.037 RON. The calculated income tax is 345,710 RON, and the net profit of the Company is 

2,444,326 RON. 

The structure of the income and expenses composing the gross profit in the amount of 2.790.037 lei for the year 2022 is 

the following: 

REVENUE - total, of which: 42.381.781 

     

• Operating income 42.164.089 

• Financial income 217.692 

 

EXPENDITURE - total, of which: 39.591.744 

  

• Operating expenses 39.363.571 

• Financial expenses 228.172 

 

Income tax expenses = 345.710 RON 

Net profit = RON 2,444,327 

Romania's tax system is in a phase of consolidation and harmonisation with European legislation. In this respect, there 

are still different interpretations of tax legislation.  In certain situations, the tax authorities may treat certain aspects 

differently, calculating additional taxes and duties and the related interest and late payment penalties. 

According to the tax legislation, interest and late payment penalties are charged on late payment of tax obligations. Law 

no. 207/2015 on the Tax Procedure Code, which entered into force on 1 January 2016, provides for an interest rate of 

0.02% for each day of delay and a late payment penalty rate of 0.01% for each day of delay. These percentages applied 

throughout fiscal year 2022. 

http://idrept.ro/00171868.htm
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In addition, the Romanian Government has a number of agencies authorized to audit (control) companies operating on 

Romanian territory. These controls are similar to tax audits in other countries, and may cover not only tax issues but also 

other legal and regulatory issues of interest to these agencies. In Romania, the tax year remains open for tax audits for 5 

years.  

The Company's management believes that the tax liabilities included in these financial statements are appropriate. 

 

Environment 

Romania is currently in a period of rapid harmonization of environmental legislation with current European Economic 

Community legislation. As of December 31, 2022, the Company has not recorded any liabilities related to anticipated 

costs, including legal and consulting fees, studies, design and implementation of environmental remediation plans.  

As the Company has no assets or other assets on its balance sheet at the reporting date that expose it to a potential risk 

or need to comply with certain legal requirements emanating from environmental legislation, the Company does not 

consider the costs associated with environmental issues to be significant.  

 

Transfer price 

Romanian tax legislation has contained rules on transfer pricing between related persons since 2000. The current 

legislative framework defines the "market value" principle for transactions between affiliated persons, as well as the 

transfer pricing methods.  According to the relevant tax legislation, the tax valuation of a related party transaction is based 

on the concept of market price for that transaction. Based on this concept, transfer prices must be adjusted to reflect the 

market prices that would have been established between non-affiliated entities acting independently on the basis of 

"arm's length conditions".As a result, it is expected that the tax authorities will initiate thorough transfer pricing reviews 

to ensure that the tax result and/or the customs value of imported goods are not distorted by the effect of related party 

pricing. It is likely that transfer price verifications will be carried out in the future by the tax authorities in order to 

determine whether these prices respect the "arm's length" principle and that the tax base of the Romanian taxpayer is 

not distorted. The company cannot quantify at the reporting date of the financial statements the result of such a 

verification. The company considers that transactions with related parties were carried out at market values. 

 

16  CONTINUITY OF ACTIVITY 

Following the outbreak of the military conflict as of 24 February 2022 between Russia and Ukraine, the Company has 
taken into account the potential negative effect on its economic performance caused by it. Up to the time of this report, 
the Company's financial results have not been affected by the crisis caused by the war in Ukraine. Taking into account 
the changes in the structure of the main contributors to the Turnover in 2023, namely the increase in the share of 
software implementation revenues at the expense of Service Delivery revenues and the focus on large-scale projects 
whose main beneficiaries are state institutions, where there are dedicated funds already allocated for contracting IT 
solution providers, the Company's management believes that there are solid elements confirming an effective initiative 
in avoiding the occurrence of bottlenecks in economic activity. 

 
In management's opinion, the matters set out in the preceding paragraphs support the view that the Company will have 
sufficient resources to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the reporting date and that it will be 
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able to effectively manage potential downturns due to the economic crisis caused by external factors.  
Management agrees that the range of possible outcomes considered in reaching this conclusion does not give rise to 
significant uncertainties related to events or conditions that could cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
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